1990

Leon H. Saunders, Robert Felton, Saunders Land
Investment Corp., White Pine Ranches, and White
Pine Enterprises v. John C. Sharp and Geraldine Y.
Sharp : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Order that is the subject of this appeal is a final order of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j). Pursuant to Rule 42, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, this appeal was transferred to the Court of Appeals for disposition by order of the Utah Supreme Court dated June 25, 1990.

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL, AND STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

Issues For Review and Standard of Review.

(a) Did the district court err in awarding compound interest? The availability of interest is a question of law; the reviewing court gives no deference to the district court's views of legal questions, reviewing the decision instead for correctness. See, Ron Case Roofing & Asphalt Paving, Inc. v. Blomquist, 773 P.2d 1382, 1385 (Utah 1989).

(b) Did the district court err in entering an Order granting relief exceeding the nature and issues raised by the pleadings and not granted at the hearing? Since this issue involves only a legal principle and review of written material, the district court's decision is subject to no deference. See, Ron Case Roofing & Asphalt Paving, Inc. v. Blomquist, 773 P.2d at 1385.

(c) Did the district court err in awarding attorneys' fees not compensable under the parties' contract? The interpretation of a contract's provisions is a question of law; in reviewing questions of law the district court's legal conclusions are reviewed de novo. See, 50 West Broadway v. Redevelopment Agency of Salt Lake, 784 P.2d 1162, 1171 (Utah 1989); In re Infant Anonymous 760 P.2d 916, 918 (Utah App. 1988). Cf. Carr v. Enoch Smith Co., 781 P.2d 1292, 1296 (Utah App. 1989).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

After a bench trial, the district court entered a money judgment against Appellants ("White Pine") and in favor of Appellees (the "Sharps"). That September 28, 1988 Judgment (the "Judgment") was the subject of an earlier appeal by White Pine in this Court's Case No. 880710-CA.¹ All issues involved in this appeal involve post-judgment actions taken by the district court during the pendency of that appeal. During White Pine's appeal of the judgment it posted a supersedeas bond and obtained a stay of execution (the "Stay"). This Stay continued unchallenged for a

¹ This Court's disposition of that case is now the subject of a pending Petition for Writ of Certiorari before the Utah Supreme Court, Petition No. 900360.

year, when the Sharps moved the district court to supplement the Judgment and to increase the amount of the bond.

The parties briefed the issues and thereafter argued their positions at a hearing. At the hearing, the district court granted the Sharps relief "as prayed". Thereafter, the Sharps presented an order that was legally incorrect in two respects: (1) it provided for compound interest; (2) it vacated the previously imposed Stay, an issue that was not raised by the pleadings, not raised by the parties, and not ruled on by the district court. Even though White Pine filed specific objections to that order, the district court executed it as submitted.

Because of an obvious legal error in that initial order (it included future interest) the Sharps submitted an amended order that did not provide for future interest, but was otherwise unchanged. White Pine again objected, and the district court again executed the order as submitted. White Pine appeals from those parts of the amended order providing for compound interest and vacating the Stay.

In addition, White Pine appeals from the district court's award of attorneys' fees to the Sharps on the ground that award is contrary to the parties' agreement, premature, and beyond the district court's subject matter jurisdiction.

B. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

On December 16, 1988, after the Judgment was entered, White Pine moved the district court for a stay of the Judgment pending appeal and for approval of a supersedeas bond in the amount of \$65,158.77, which included the shortfall calculated in the Judgment, along with interest through June 30, 1989. (R. 1509). The Sharps opposed that motion, arguing the supersedeas bond should be \$310,287.31. (R. 1561). Thereafter, the district court set the amount of the bond at \$79,793.36, and on January 20, 1989 White Pine posted a supersedeas bond in that increased amount. (R. 1742). Once again, on January 23, 1989, the Sharps objected, arguing that White Pine "should be required to obtain a reputable surety with a solid background upon which the Sharps may rely for security against losses resulting from an unsuccessful appeal" (R. 1700).

Finally, based upon the stipulation of White Pine and the Sharps, the district court entered its Order Re: Supersedeas Bond on March 17, 1989 (the "Stay"). (R. 1725). That Order established two critical matters: (1) the form of security for the bond (Lot 1, White Pine Ranches Subdivision Phase I, as recorded in the offices of the Summit County Recorder) was determined to be good and sufficient; and (2) Lot 1 would be considered for security for

increases, if any, in the supersedeas bond amount at a hearing to be held after November 19, 1989. (R. 1726).

On November 3, 1989, in accordance with para. 3 of that March 17, 1989 Order, the Sharps filed their Request for Hearing on (1) a previously filed Motion to Supplement Judgment; (2) their request for additional attorneys' fees; and (3) their request for an increase in the supersedeas bond amount. (R. 1765). On December 11, 1989, the Sharps filed their Second Motion to Supplement Judgment and Motion to Increase Liability on Bond, in which the Sharps again requested, inter alia, the district court to increase the amount of the supersedeas bond. (R. 1774). At no time did the Sharps request the district court to order White Pine to post additional, or different, security.

The district court heard that Motion on February 12, 1990. At the conclusion of the hearing on that Motion, the district court granted the Sharps' Motion "as prayed". (R. 2059, 2135).

When the Sharps presented their proposed Order on the Sharps' Second Motion to White Pine's counsel, however, the Order said nothing about increasing the amount of the supersedeas bond; instead it required White Pine "to post additional security" in the amount of \$136,800.99 on or before March 15, 1990. (R. 2073; Add. 11). That Order (the "Initial Order") was entered on March

16, 1990, the same day White Pine served its objections to the Order. (R. 2078).

It is important to note that the Initial Order vacated the district court's year-old Order Staying Proceedings if such additional security was not posted by March 15, 1990. In other words, the prior Stay was effectively vacated before the order vacating it was entered. The Initial Order was entered even though the Sharps never requested that the Stay be vacated, and the issue was neither raised nor ruled on at the February 12, 1990 hearing. (R. 2110-2137). In other words, White Pine never knew there was any possibility the Stay would be vacated until after the district court signed the erroneous Initial Order.

On March 16, 1990, White Pine also served its Motions for Continuance of Order Staying Enforcement of Judgment Pending Appeal and Approval of Supersedeas Bond. (R. 2078). As set forth in that Motion, the surety had theretofore filed a financial statement with the district court indicating that the net worth of the surety in March 1989 totaled \$220,000.00, more than (1) the sum of the initial Judgment and (2) the increase ordered by the district court. (R. 2082). Accordingly, White Pine requested the district court to enter an Order (1) staying enforcement of the judgment pending final determination by this Court; and (2) declaring that

the existing security be considered adequate, and in full compliance with the Judgment and stay. (R. 2083).

On April 16, 1990, White Pine filed its Motion for Relief from Judgment on the grounds that the Initial Order exceeded the relief requested by the Sharps, and accordingly was void. (R. 2098). The Initial Order provided for future interest through August 1, 1990, and in its supporting memorandum, White Pine pointed out that it was erroneous for the Initial Order to award future interest. (R. 2106). In the meantime, on April 30, 1990, the Sharps served their proposed Amended Order omitting the award of future interest. (R. 2203; Add. 22). On May 7, 1990 the district court announced it would execute the Amended Order upon its presentation, and otherwise denied White Pine's Motion. (R. 2168).

On May 1, 1990, six weeks after the Initial Order had been entered, the Sharps filed their memorandum in opposition to White Pine's motion for a continuance of the Stay and, for the first time, objected to the sufficiency of the existing security. (R. 2159). On May 8, 1990, White Pine filed its reply, (1) pointing out that the Sharps never objected to the sufficiency of the security until April 30, 1990, and (2) requesting an evidentiary hearing to determine whether the real property presently securing the bond was sufficient pending appeal. (R. 2170-2173).

White Pine further demonstrated in its reply that the Sharps were merely re-litigating arguments they had already made in their January 1989 objection to the initial bond. As pointed out in White Pine's reply, "the form and nature of the security has been approved by the Court, and its acceptability is now the law of the case. The only issue remaining is whether the security is sufficient to guarantee the payment of unsecured fees, costs and interest, which the Court has found to be \$216,594.34 as of August 1, 1990." (R. 2172-2173).

On May 11, 1990, White Pine filed its present appeal of the Initial Order (R. 2194) pursuant to an order extending White Pine's Time for Appeal (R. 2095). Three days later, on May 14, 1990, the district court entered the Amended Order re: Defendants' Second Motion to Supplement Judgment and Motion to Increase Liability on Bond (the "Amended Order") (R. 2197; Add. 16).

The Amended Order corrected the future interest problem contained in the Initial Order, but it did not correct the remaining deficiencies. Accordingly, White Pine objected to the Amended Order before it was entered (R. 2175) and, thereafter, on May 24, 1990 filed its Amended Notice of Appeal for the purpose of appealing the Amended Order (R. 2217).

The Amended Order states, at paragraph 2:

The Judgment entered in this matter on September 26, 1988 is hereby supplemented

through February 12, 1990, by the amount of
\$231,636.97 for a total judgment of
\$938,053.02 as of February 12, 1990.

(R. 2198; Add. 9) (emphasis added). This provision results in the impermissible compounding of interest.

The Amended Order also granted the Sharps their attorneys' fees through October 31, 1989, even though the Sharps had not yet prevailed in any appeal -- a condition precedent of the Judgment for an award of any additional attorneys' fees. In that regard, the Judgment provided, in pertinent part:

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that this Judgment shall be supplemented and augmented in the amount of the Sharps' reasonable attorney's fees as established by affidavit and as incurred after August 31, 1988, in preparation of the Findings, Conclusions and Judgment, in responding to any post-trial motions, in collecting said Judgment by execution or otherwise, and after prevailing in any appeal.

(R. 2183; Add. 4) (emphasis added).

Moreover, under the Amended Order the Stay of Execution Pending Appeal was lifted as of March 15, 1990, two months before the Amended Order was entered on May 14, 1990. (R. 2198; Add. 17). The Initial Order, which was entered March 16, 1990, contained the same language:

Plaintiffs are ordered to post additional security as a supersedeas bond for the continued stay of the execution of the Judgment pursuant to the Order Re: Supersedeas Bond dated March 17, 1989 in the amount of \$136,800.99 on or before March 15, 1990. If Plaintiffs fail to do

so by March 15, 1990, the Order Staying Proceedings dated January 31, 1989 shall be automatically vacated and the Sharps shall be allowed to proceed to execute on the Judgment entered in the above captioned matter.

(R.2073-74, 2202; Add. 11-12; 21).

Both orders, therefore, required White Pine to post increased security before either order was entered, thereby precluding any opportunity for White Pine to comply with the orders and avoid a lifting of the stay. The district court was never requested to order a lifting of the stay, and that matter was never addressed at the February 12, 1990 hearing on the Sharps' motion (R. 2110-2137).

At the time the Amended Order was entered on May 14, 1990, White Pine's Motions for Continuance of Order Staying Enforcement of Judgment Pending Appeal and Approval of Supersedeas Bond (R. 2082) had been pending before the district court for almost two months. Even though White Pine was entitled to a stay of execution on the money Judgment as a matter of right,² and had requested a hearing on the Stay and the adequacy of the security for the previously filed supersedeas bond (R. 2173), the district court declined to hold such a hearing or to permit White Pine to argue its entitlement to the Stay. Instead, the district court simply

² See Jensen v. Schwendiman, 744 P.2d 1026, 1027 (Utah App. 1987) and discussion at Point VI, B, infra.

entered the Amended Order lifting the Stay, without giving White Pine any opportunity either to demonstrate that the existing security was adequate or to post some other adequate security.

As a result of all these actions by the district court, White Pine claims it committed three errors: (1) the district court erred in ordering compound interest; (2) the district court erred in entering an order lifting the stay even though that relief was never requested, never argued, and never ruled upon at the hearing; and (3) the district court erred in awarding additional attorneys' fees.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The orders prepared by the Sharps' counsel and entered by the district court erroneously allow compound interest.

The district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to revoke or lift the Stay once the Stay had been approved; even if the district court had that power, it could not award relief that had not been requested in the Sharps' pleadings, had not been briefed or argued by the parties, and had not been granted in the district court's oral ruling.

Finally, the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to supplement the Sharps' attorneys' fees once White Pine had appealed the Judgment. Even if the district court had such

authority, it failed to make the findings of fact required in connection with an award of attorneys' fees.

All of these legal errors by the district court make the orders entered by the district court void. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the orders appealed from.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. THE AMENDED ORDER IMPERMISSIBLY COMPOUNDS INTEREST.

Compound interest is "interest on interest, in that accrued interest is added periodically to the principal, and interest is computed upon the new principal thus formed; . . ." Mountain States Broadcasting Co. v. Neale, 783 P.2d 551, 554 (Utah App. 1989) (quoting, 45 Am.Jur. 2d Interest and Usury § 76 (1969)).

Due to the general judicial disfavor of interest on interest, compound interest is not permitted unless the parties contract otherwise, or unless the statute providing for interest on judgments expressly requires compounding.³ See, e.g., Watkins & Faber v. Whiteley, 592 P.2d 613, 616 (Utah 1979); Estate Landscape & Snow Removal Specialists, Inc. v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co., 793 P.2d 415, 420 (Utah App. 1990); Neale, 783 P.2d at 555.

In this case, the original September 26, 1988 Judgment separately listed various amounts owing by categories, along with

³ Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-4 does not permit compound interest. See, Estate Landscape, 793 P.2d at 420.

interest rates thereon or per diems for each separate amount. Nowhere in that Judgment is there a total judgment amount. (R. 2182; Add. 3).

The Amended Order, however, purports to "supplement" the original Judgment by the total amount of \$231,636.97, \$151,670.63 of which represents interest. (R. 2199-2200; Add. 18-19). Unlike the Judgment, however, the Amended Order included a "total Judgment of \$938,053.02." (R. 2198; Add. 17).

Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-4, this total Judgment amount of \$938,053.02 -- including the \$151,670.63 of interest included therein -- bears interest from and after February 12, 1990 at the annual rate of 12%. Thus, every year White Pine will be required to pay \$18,200.36 of compounded interest on the \$151,670.63 of interest that the Amended Order added to the original Judgment. Under the Neale definition of "compound interest", the Amended Order unquestionably creates a situation where interest is impermissibly compounded.

On May 8, 1990, a week before the Amended Order was entered, White Pine filed an objection to the Amended Order which read, in pertinent part, as follows:

The Amended Order purports to create a judgment as of February 12, 1990 in the total amount of \$938,053.02. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-4. This total sum, including interest, would bear interest at 12%. This

constitutes an impermissible compounding of interest.

(R. 2177). White Pine even went so far as to submit to the district court a proposed Supplemented Judgment which avoided the compounding problem. (R. 2187-2190).

The district court nevertheless entered the Amended Order which has been designated in the court records as a Judgment (R. 2197; Add. 16). By their drafting, the Sharps have created a Judgment which gives them \$18,200.36 per year of compound interest to which they are not entitled. That award is contrary to law and should be reversed.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN LIFTING THE PREVIOUSLY IMPOSED STAY

As with the compounding of interest, the Sharps inserted in the Amended Order a provision lifting the Stay which is legally improper. The first time White Pine had any idea the Sharps were seeking to have the Stay lifted was when White Pine's counsel received the Sharps' proposed Initial Order. Once again, White Pine objected explicitly to the inclusion of this provision (R. 2177-78), but the district court nevertheless executed the Sharps' order. During the pendency of its appeal of this money Judgment, White Pine was entitled to the stay as a matter of right upon the posting of adequate security. See, Jensen v. Schwendiman, 744 P.2d 1026, 1027 (Utah App. 1987). The district court accordingly erred

as a matter of law in lifting the Stay in the absence of any request that it do so and in denying White Pine a hearing on the issues surrounding the issuance of a supersedeas bond. Moreover, once the Stay was granted, the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to revoke it.

1. The Sharps' Pleadings Did Not Request That The Stay Be Lifted.

In their November 3, 1989 Request for Hearing, the Sharps requested only an increase in the amount of the supersedeas bond. Similarly, the Sharps' December 11, 1989 Second Motion requested only that the amount of the bond be increased. Indeed, after White Pine filed its objections to the Sharps' Second Motion, the Sharps replied: "It is not unreasonable to require [White Pine] to increase the amount of their supersedeas bond." (R. 2042). (emphasis added).

The Sharps made reference to increasing the amount of the bond three different times. They never, however, requested (1) any different security, or (2) that the Stay be lifted. In fact, at the hearing on the Sharps' Second Motion, their counsel framed this issue in terms of only "why the bond should not be increased." (R. 2113). All the argument at the February 12, 1990 hearing on the Sharps' Second Motion focused on the increased amount, if any, of the supersedeas bond.

When the Sharps' counsel submitted the Initial Order, however, it contained two provisions that were devastating to White Pine, and which had been totally unaddressed by the Sharps' pleadings: (1) White Pine was ordered to post additional security in the amount of \$136,800.90; and (2) the Stay was automatically lifted if White Pine had not filed the additional bond by March 15, 1990, two days before the Initial Order was even entered. Because the posting of additional security and the lifting of the Stay had never been requested, argued, or ruled on, White Pine was unfairly and unjustifiably surprised by the inclusion of these provisions in the Initial Order.

This Court has ruled such an order is void as a matter of law. See, Hendricks v. Interstate Homes, Inc., 745 P.2d 475, 478 (Utah App. 1989). The rule announced in Hendricks reflects a longstanding recognition that Utah courts have no subject matter jurisdiction to grant relief not sought by the pleadings.

In Stockyards Nat. Bank v. Bragg, 67 Utah 60, 245 P. 966 (1925), the Bank sought to enforce two mortgages which had been executed on behalf of minors by their guardian. The guardian executed those mortgages only after receiving district court authorization, and the district court thereafter ordered foreclosure. In the minors' appeal of the foreclosure decree the bank argued that no pleading, petition, affidavit or other

triggering device was necessary to invoke the court's jurisdiction.

Id. at 973. In reversing the foreclosure decree, the Court wrote:

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