1990

Leon Saunders, Robert Felton, J. Richard Rees,
Saunders Land Development Corp., White Pine
Ranches, and White Pine Enterprises v. John C.
Sharp, Geraldine Y. Sharp, and Associated Title
Company : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The Sharps agree they are not entitled to compound interest but deny the Amended Order has that effect. The Amended Order specifically categorizes each calculation of interest to avoid any compounding of interest. The Sharps are not seeking to compound interest and have, in an effort to simplify the issues on appeal, filed a Motion in the trial court to amend the Amended Order and delete the phrase "for a total judgment of \$938,053.02 as of February 12, 1990."

2. The Stipulation pursuant to which the parties agreed to the sufficiency of two certificates of deposit totaling \$136,899.00 as good and sufficient security for their supersedeas bond and the actual posting of that bond by White Pine has rendered the issue of whether the trial court entered an order exceeding the nature and issues raised by the pleadings moot. Accordingly, the argument relating to that issue need not be considered by this Court.

3. The district court had subject matter jurisdiction to enter the Amended Order since the issues of an increase in the supersedeas bond and award of attorney's fees were collateral to the issues raised by White Pine in its first appeal and involved matters necessary for the protection of the rights of the Sharps pending the outcome of the appeal. In fact, both this Court and the Utah Supreme Court recognized the trial court as the appropriate forum for the bond issues to be determined.

4. The supplementation of the Judgment by the amount of the attorney's fees incurred by the Sharps is in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed Note, the Trust Deed and the Memo constituting the Agreement between the parties and comes within the purview of the language of the Judgment and enforcing the Agreement between the parties.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

COMPOUND INTEREST IS NOT AWARDED IN THE AMENDED ORDER SUPPLEMENTING THE JUDGMENT.

The rate of interest to be awarded on judgments is governed by §15-1-4, Utah Code Ann., which provides:

Any judgment rendered on a lawful contract shall conform thereto and shall bear the interest agreed upon by the parties, which shall be specified in the judgment; other judgments shall be interest at the rate of 12% per annum.

(Emphasis added.)

In this case, the Agreement between the parties provided for different rates of interest. The payments to be made under the Trust Deed Note, once in default, are to bear the interest rate of 18% per annum. (Ex. 3, Add. 10) Expenditures made by the beneficiary under the Deed of Trust, however, bear interest at the rate of 10% per annum. (Ex. 2, Add. 7) Pursuant to the terms of the Utah statute, attorney's fees awarded accrued interest at the rate of 10% per annum pre-judgment and 12% per annum after judgment. Accordingly, the Sharps presented detailed

Affidavits of Albert D. Nystrom, a certified public accountant, presenting the calculations of all of the various interest rates and the per diem rates thereon. (R. 1539-49, 1782-90, 2064-66, Add. 33-57) Those affidavits were un rebutted by White Pine.

In accordance with the calculations of Albert D. Nystrom, paragraph 2 of the Amended Order provides for the supplementation of the Judgment in the amount of \$231,636.97 and itemizes the supplementation into specific categories. (R. 2197-2205, Add. 26-27) Subparagraph 2(b) sets forth pre-judgment interest at 10% from March 22, 1988, the date on which the trial court made its bench ruling in the trial of this matter to September 26, 1988, the date on which the Judgment was finally entered. Subparagraph 2(c) of the Amended Order then sets forth post-judgment interest at specific per diem rates calculated by Albert D. Nystrom from September 26, the date of the entry of the Judgment through February 12, 1990, the date of the hearing on the Motion to Supplement the Judgment. (R. 1539-49, 1782-90, 2064-66; Add. 26-27)

The Sharps agree that they are not entitled to compound interest. The specific itemization of the interest was calculated for the very purpose of avoiding any compounding of interest. Additionally, although the Sharps deny that the Amended Order has the effect of compounding interest, they have submitted a Motion in the district court to amend the Amended Order to delete the phrase "for a total Judgment of \$938,053.02" which phrase, White

Pine claims, at pages 9 and 13 of its Brief, is objectionable and results in compounding of interest. (Add. 85-87) White Pine's appeal as to the issue of interest is, therefore, without merit.

POINT II

THE ISSUE OF WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ENTERED AN ORDER EXCEEDING THE NATURE AND ISSUES RAISED BY THE PLEADINGS HAS BEEN RENDERED MOOT.

Generally, an appellate court should dismiss an appeal if, pending the appeal, an event occurs which makes determination of the issue presented unnecessary and renders the case moot. In Interest of A. J., 736 P.2d 721 (Wyo. 1987). In that event, the case is moot and the court will normally refrain from adjudicating it on the merits. Despain v. Stewart, 639 P.2d 166 (Utah 1981); Duran v. Morris, 635 P.2d 43 (Utah 1981).

Here, White Pine's objections to the provisions of the Amended Order vacating the stay and requiring the posting of additional security, at pages 15-20 of its Brief, have been rendered moot by White Pine's own actions subsequent to the entry of that Order. White Pine has entered into a Stipulation by which White Pine agreed to post, and has now, in fact, posted the additional \$136,899.00 required by the Court and by which the Sharps agreed to the sufficiency of the form of the security for the additional \$136.899.00. (Add. 74-80) The terms of the Stipulation further render moot the objection to the vacation of the stay since the parties agree therein that the stay shall continue in effect as does the prior Order of the Utah Supreme

Court. (Add. 74-80, 73) Accordingly, it is unnecessary for this Court to consider the issue any further.²

POINT III

THE DISTRICT COURT HAD JURISDICTION TO ENTER THE AMENDED ORDER.

On remand, a district court has jurisdiction to interpret the decision and mandate of an appellate court. Berland's, Inc. v. Northside Shopping Center, 447 P.2d 768 (Okla. 1968). In this case, both this Court and the Supreme Court determined jurisdiction to determine the bonding issue was in the district court. In order to determine the amount of the bond, and to protect the Sharps against damages accruing during the pendency of the appeal, the district court, necessarily, had to determine the amounts by which the Judgment against White Pine had increased, taking into account interest and attorney's fees since the time the prior bond amount had been established. The fact that an appeal has been filed in a matter and a supersedeas bond posted does not stay the accrual of the obligations which are the subject of the appeal. Lund v. Lund, 6 Utah 2d 425, 315 P.2d 856 (1957). The entry of the Amended Order supplementing the Judgment is a logical corollary of the determination of the bond amount.

²Even if the issue is not moot, the Amended Order reflects what happens by operation of law. Under Utah R. Civ. P. Rule 62(d), a stay is effective only when the supersedeas bond is approved by the court. A court cannot approve a bond until it is posted.

Even in absence of remand, a trial court has jurisdiction to consider issues collateral to the appeal. White v. State of Utah, 137 Utah Adv. Rep. 3 (Utah 1990). A trial court also has the authority to consider applications for attorney's fees and matters relating to supersedeas bonds and the modification of injunctions during the pendency of an appeal. Venen v. Sweet, 758 F.2d 117 (3rd Cir. 1985).

In White, a case relied on by White Pine for its assertion the district court lacked jurisdiction, defendants brought a motion to modify the judgment against them to reflect a credit for the amounts they claim to have paid, thereby reducing the amount of the Judgment. In holding the trial court had jurisdiction to rule on the motion, the Supreme Court stated:

An adjudication of the motion, though a modification of the judgment may result, will not affect the legal issues raised here with respect to attorney's fees and defendant's liability. Under these circumstances, we see no need to suspend our jurisdiction while the district court has the matter under consideration as that will only delay proceedings. . . . If the motion is granted, the trial court in this case need only advise this court that the judgment has been modified. The district court action granting or denying the motion and the modified judgment should be included in the record when it is prepared for review by this court.

Id. at 4.

Other jurisdictions considering the matter have determined that a trial court is not deprived of the power to require an additional injunction bond or the power to dissolve such an

injunction upon failure to file a bond and have specifically found that a trial court retains jurisdiction to test the sufficiency of an appeal bond. In Porter v. Superior Court, 78 Cal. App. 790, 248 P. 1077 (Cal. 1926), a motion to increase the amount of an injunction bond as a condition of keeping the injunction in force was filed in the trial court after an appeal had been perfected. The Court stated:

As the jurisdiction of respondent court to increase the amount of the undertaking before the appeal was taken from the judgment was plainly existent, and as the appeal did not transfer to the appellate tribunal the matters incident to the giving of the undertaking, it appears plain to us that respondent court has jurisdiction, despite the appeal, to order an increase in the amount of the undertaking, even though the final result may be that the injunction will be set aside for a failure to give the new undertaking. There is as great danger to the rights of defendant in the action from an insufficiency of the undertaking, which insufficiency appears after the appeal, as from an insufficiency which might have appeared before the appeal. Under such circumstances, the jurisdiction to order a sufficient undertaking must rest somewhere, and, as it does not reside in the appellate tribunal after the appeal, it must still abide in the superior court.

Id. at 1078.

In Osborn v. Riley, 331 So.2d 268 (Ala. 1976), the Alabama Supreme Court held a motion for additional supersedeas bond was collateral to the issues which had been appealed.

[T]he Rileys' motion for an additional supersedeas bond is part of a proceeding that is separate and distinct from the decree appealed from. The question present-

ed by the Rileys' motion, that is, whether the original \$5,000 supersedeas bond adequately protected the Rileys' interest in the court's order entered in their favor, does not involve the rights and equities relative to the question of whether their deed should have been set aside. The Rileys' motion does not raise any question going behind the decree appealed from, nor does it raise any question decided by that decree. In short, the Rileys' motion presented a question which is clearly collateral to the questions raised by Osborn's appeal of the court order setting aside the deed.

Id. at 272. The court further recognized the trial court's jurisdiction to rightfully make orders that are needful for the preservation of the res and the rights of the parties pending to the appeal. "So it is that the Rileys' motion for additional bond involved a matter necessary for the full protection of their rights pending Osborn's appeal" Id. White Pine's appeal of this issue is disturbing, to say the least, since both this Court and the Utah Supreme Court have, in effect, told White Pine that jurisdiction of the bonding issue is in the district court.

White Pine cites the case of In re: Federal Facilities Realty Trust, 227 F.2d 651 (7th Cir. 1955), for the proposition that a district court has no power to revoke a stay once an appeal has been taken. The holding of that case, however, has been criticized and appears to have been abrogated by Rule 8(a), Fed. R. App. P., which requires "application for a stay of a judgment or order of a district court pending appeal, or for approval of a supersedeas bond, or for an order suspending,

modifying, restoring granting an injunction during the pendency of an appeal must ordinarily be made in the first instance in the district court." (Emphasis added.) Rule 8, Utah R. App. P. is substantially similar to Rule 8, Fed. R. Civ. P. and appears to recognize the reality that an appellate court is ill-equipped to take evidence or make factual determinations as to the sufficiency of a supersedeas bond, as the Utah Supreme Court and this Court so held with these parties. Swasey v. Rocky Point Ditch Co., 649 P.2d 1 (Utah 1982) (decided under former Utah R. Civ. P., Rule 73).

If the appellate court cannot take evidence, and, as White Pine asserts, the district court has no jurisdiction, the illogical result is that a judgment holder is left with no forum in which his security will be protected, even if, subsequent to the filing of the appeal, the security is lost, destroyed, or devalued, an absurd result.

In In re: Long, 93 Br. 791 (Bankr. M.D. Ga. 1988), the court noted that the holding of Federal Facilities had been incorporated into former Fed. R. Civ. P. 73(e). The court noted:

The former rule's provision that the docketing of an appeal divests the lower court of jurisdiction to address matters relating to the bond or to a stay pending appeal was rejected when Rule 8(a) of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure was adopted. The advisory committee note to Rule 8(a) states:

The requirement of FRCP 73(e) appears to be a concession to the view that once an appeal is perfected, the district court loses all power over its

judgment. See In re: Federal Facilities Realty Trust, 227 F.2d 651 (7th Cir. 1955) and cases cited at 654-655. No reason appears why all questions related to supersedeas or the bond for costs on appeal should not be presented in the first instance to the district court in the ordinary case.

In re: Long, 93 Br. at 791. See also Venen v. Sweet, 758 F.2d 117 (3rd Cir. 1985) (district court, during the pendency of an appeal is not divested of jurisdiction to determine an application for attorney's fees or to issue orders regarding the filing of bonds or supersedeas bonds or to modify, restore or grant injunctions).

As noted above, in order to determine the damages which would accrue during the pendency of White Pine's appeal and the sufficiency and amount of the bond to be posted by White Pine, the district court was required to make a determination of the amount of attorney's fees incurred by the Sharps, since attorney's fees are an integral part of damages incurred by the stay of execution. Cf. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Atkin, Wright & Miles, 681 P.2d 1258, 1262 (Utah 1984).

Here, the award of additional attorney's fees is collateral to the issues raised in White Pine's first appeal. In First Div., Inc. v. Bermaor, 449 So.2d 290, 291 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1983), the court held that the mere fact a first judgment was on appeal did not deprive the trial court of jurisdiction to enter a subsequent judgment for attorney's fees, stating:

A proceeding seeking attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to the primary judgment is not a proceeding to enforce the primary judgment, and a supersedeas of such primary judgment does not, any more than the appeal therefrom, divest the trial court of jurisdiction to entertain such proceeding, to enter the ancillary judgment, and to provide for its enforcement unless such ancillary judgment is independently superseded.

(Footnote omitted.) Id. See also Dent v. Simmons, 61 Md. App. 122, 485 A.2d 270 (1985) (Trial court has jurisdiction to award attorney's fees after appeal of the case in chief; determination of issue within the sound discretion of the trial court); Venen v. Sweet, 758 F.2d at 120 (3rd Cir. 1985) (district court during pendency of an appeal is not divested of jurisdiction to determine an application for attorney's fees).

POINT IV

SUPPLEMENTATION OF THE JUDGMENT BY THE AMOUNT OF ATTORNEY'S FEES INCURRED BY THE SHARPS IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE JUDGMENT NOR THE TERMS OF THE CONTRACT.

In Utah where provided for by contract, the award of attorney's fees is left to the sound discretion of the trial court. Dixie State Bank v. Bracken, 764 P.2d 985, 988 (Utah 1988); Turtle Mgt. v. Haggis Mgt., 645 P.2d 677 (Utah 1982). When the terms of the contract are determined to provide for an award of attorney's fees, they are to be awarded as a matter of legal right. Saunders v. Sharp, 135 Utah Adv. Rep. 68, 79 (Utah Ct. App. May 25, 1990). In its first appeal, White Pine argued, also, that the award of attorney's fees in the first Judgment was

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